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Tracy OCallaghan

From: Eveleen Crowley
Sent: Tuesday 16 January 2024 13:33
To: Richard Keating
Cc: Tracy OCallaghan
Subject: Declaration of Exempted Development under Section 5 of the Planning and 

Development Act 2000 - 2010. (Ref. No. D/315/23)
Attachments: D315.23 (Carrigaline Men's Shed).pdf

Good afternoon,  
 
Further to recent correspondence notifying you of a third-party Declaration with regard to the above development I 
attach for your information copy of the Planning Authority’s decision. 
 
 
Kind regards 
 
Eveleen Crowley |  Oifigeach Cléireachais  |  Pleanail agus Fobairt 
Comhairle Contae Chorcaí | Halla an Chontae | Corcaigh | T12 R2NC | Éire 
T +353-(0)21 – 4285874 |   
eveleen.crowley@corkcoco.ie  |  www.corkcoco.ie 
Tairseach na gcustaiméirí: www.yourcouncil.ie 

  
Eveleen Crowley | Clerical Officer | Planning & Development 
Cork County Council | County Hall | Cork | T12 R2NC | Ireland 
T +353-(0)21 – 4285874  |   
Eveleen.crowley@corkcoco.ie |  www.corkcoco.ie    
Customer Portal: www.yourcouncil.ie 

 
 

From: Eveleen Crowley  
Sent: Wednesday 6 December 2023 13:07 
To: Richard Keating <Richard.Keating@CorkCoCo.ie> 
Cc: Tracy OCallaghan <Tracy.OCallaghan@CorkCoCo.ie> 
Subject: Declaration of Exempted Development under Section 5 of the Planning and Development Act 2000 - 2010. 
(Ref. No. D/315/23) 
 
 
Good afternoon,  
 
Please be advised that a declaration has been sought with respect to Section 5 of the Planning and Development Act 
2000 (as amended) from the Planning Authority by the Carrigaline Men’s Shed with respect to whether the 
installation of a photo-voltaic system at Waterpark, Church Road, Carrigaline, Co. Cork constitutes development. 
 
You are being notified as the applicant has indicated that Cork County Council is the legal owner of the land in 
question. 
 
 
Kind regards 
 
Eveleen Crowley |  Oifigeach Cléireachais  |  Pleanail agus Fobairt 
Comhairle Contae Chorcaí | Halla an Chontae | Corcaigh | T12 R2NC | Éire 
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D/315/23 Response to Further Information Report  
 
Further information was requested as follows: 
 

1. Please confirm that the distance between the plane of the roof and the solar photo-
voltaic panels shall not exceed 15 cm. 

 
2. Condition/limitation 5 of Class 61 of Part 1, Schedule 2 of the Planning and 

Development Regulations states that any ancillary equipment associated with the 
solar photo-voltaic panels shall not be placed or erected on a wall or any roof that is 
not a flat roof. Can you please give details of the location of ancillary equipment (if 
any) and confirm it is not proposed to be located on the roof of the Men’s shed or a 
wall?  

 
3. Please confirm that the proposed solar photovoltaic installation will be primarily 

used for the provision of electricity for use within the curtilage of the building or site. 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Assessment 
 
The agent has responded on 14/01/2024. He confirms that the distance between the plane 
of the roof and the solar photo-voltaic panels shall not exceed 15 cm. I note that a drawing 
of same has not been submitted but the agent states that the system will be designed to 
conform with Class 61.  
 
He confirms that any ancillary equipment will be located internally within the building and 
not on any wall or roof.  
 
He confirms that the electricity generated will be for use of the Mens Shed building or site. 
 
Recommendation  
 
Whereas a question has arisen as to whether the installation of a photovoltaic system on 
the roof of the Carrigaline Men’s Shed premises at Waterpark, Church Road, Carrigaline, Co. 
Cork is or is not development and is or is not exempted development, 
 
And whereas the Planning Authority has had regard to: 
 

(a) Sections 2,3 and 5 of the Planning and Development Act 2000 as amended, 
(b) Article 9 of the Planning and Development Regulations 2001-2023 as amended, 
(c) Class 61 of Part 1, Schedule 2 of the Planning and Development Regulations 

2001-2023 as amended, 
 

And whereas the Planning Authority has concluded that: 
 
(a) The works proposed represent development, 
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(b) The proposed development meets the requirements of Class 61, Part 1, Schedule 
2 of the Planning and Development Regulations 2001-2023, 

 
The Planning Authority concludes that the installation of a photovoltaic system on the roof 
of the Carrigaline Men’s Shed premises at Waterpark, Church Road, Carrigaline, Co. Cork is 
development and is exempted development. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
______________________________ 
Susan Hurley 
Executive Planner     
15/01/2024 
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D/315/23 
 
Declaration on Exempted Development Under Section 5 of the Planning and Development 
Act 2000 as amended. 
 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 Aidan Winters has submitted a Section 5 declaration asking whether the installation 

of a photovoltaic system on the roof of the Carrigaline Men’s Shed premises at 
Waterpark, Church Road, Carrigaline, Co. Cork is or is not development and is or is 
not exempted development? 
 

1.2 The Council are the registered owners and the Property Section has submitted a 
letter of consent for the proposed development. 

 
2.0 Planning History and Policy 

 
 
17/4648 
Carrigaline Men’s Shed were granted planning permission for A) Purpose built men’s shed 
incorporating; clubhouse reception; social, display and meeting rooms; kitchen and welfare 
facilities; carpentry and metal workshops; storage and general purpose rooms; screened 
external above ground rainwater harvesting tanks. B) Polytunnel for gardening use, raised 
beds and external composting facilities. C) Erection of 2.4 metre high palisade type fencing 
approx 60.0 metre long to the site North and North West. D) Erection of 2.4 metre high 
paladin mesh type fencing together with external hedge screening approx. 60m long to the 
South and South-West with adjoining parking provision of 10 no. parking spaces. E) Existing 
site to be regarded to create falls to suit existing/new levels and disabled access with self-
draining chippings finish generally and tarmac to suit existing/new area. Connection to 
existing storm water drains, public sewer and all associated site works. 
 
16/5988 
Carrigaline Men’s Shed were granted planning permission for (A) 2 no. covered steel 
containers to provide general purpose meeting rooms with kitchen and clubhouse/reception 
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facilities connected with 3.0 metre wide central display area and linking steel roof over the 
entrance and display, measuring 12.0 x 8.0 metres overall. (B) Purpose built enclosed steel 
workshop area and separate prefabricated carpentry workshop with pitched steel roof to 
provide semi open covered central work area linking both workshops, measuring 13.5 x 12.0 
metres overall, and with screened external above ground rain water storage tank. (C ) 2 no. 
prefabricated units with shared entrance and linking canopy for general purpose and storage 
use, measuring 16.5 x 3.6 metres overall. (D) Polytunnel for gardening use measuring 10.5 x 
5.5 metres with 3 no. 300 litre external compost bins to outdoor planting and raised bed 
area, including a 15 square metre recycling compound. (E) Erection of 2 metre high palisade 
type fencing approx. 120 metres long to establish new boundary lines with beech hedging 
screen approx. 60metres long to south and west boundaries, combined with low level wall 
and adjoining parking provision of 9 no. parking spaces. (F) Existing site fill to be 
regraded/redistributed to create falls to suit existing/new levels and disabled access, with 
self draining chippings finish generally and tarmac to main/entrance area. Connection to 
existing storm water drains and public sewer. Removal of one existing small tree and one 
existing large damaged tree and all associated site works 
 
12/6320 
Carrigaline Lions Youth Project Ltd were granted planning permission for Youth Centre 
(incorporating youth activity/general purpose rooms café, offices and meeting rooms), 
together with associated site works (incorporating alterations to existing road network and 
car park adjoining Cork County Council Local Area Office, and landscaping to include 
upgrading of existing park and pedestrian bridge). 
 
____________________________________________________ 
 

2.1 The site is zoned ‘Existing Residential/Mixed Residential/Other Uses’ in the Cork 
County Development Plan 2022-2028. 
 

2.2 The site is within a High Value Landscape as designated in the Cork County 
Development Plan 2022-2028. 
 

3.0 Relevant Legislation 
 
3.1 According to Section 2(1) of the Planning and Development Act 2000 (as amended), 

the definition of “Works” includes any act or operation of construction, excavation, 
demolition, extension, alteration, repair or renewal. 

 
3.2 According to Section 3(1)(a) of the Planning and Development Act 2000 (as 

amended), “Development” means, save where the context otherwise requires, the 
carrying out of works on, in or under land or the making of any material change in 
the use of any structures or other land. 
 

3.3 Section 4(1)(h) of the Act is “development consisting of the carrying out of works for 
the maintenance, improvement, or other alteration of any structure, being works 
which affect only the interior of the structure or which do not materially affect the 
external appearance of the structure so as to render the appearance inconsistent 
with the character of the structure or of neighbouring structures.” 
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3.4 Section 5(1) defines ancillary equipment for the purpose of rooftop solar photo-
voltaic or solar thermal collector panels in classes 56(d), 56(e), 60 or 61 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 2 and class 18(c) of Part 3 of Schedule 2 does not include any equipment 
which must be placed or erected on a wall or a rooftop to allow a solar photo-voltaic 
or solar thermal collector installation to function. 

 
3.5 Schedule 2, Part 1, Class 61 may also be relevant: 
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3.6 Article 9 (1) (a) of the Planning and Development Regulations 2001-2023 is relevant. 
 
4.0 Assessment 
 
4.1 The details submitted with the application outlines that the proposed photo-voltaic 

system comprises 90 sqm of solar panels. These panels have a dimension of 1.722m 
x 1.134m. They would be mounted on the south facing side of the shed roof which 
has only an 8 degree pitch. These panels would be mounted against the grey painted 
roof. 

 
4.2 A drawing of the panels on the roof has not been submitted. Existing drawings of the 

shed building have been provided. The southern elevation is as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3 A drawing of the roof with panels has been submitted: 
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4.4 The installation of photo-voltaic panels constitutes ‘works’ being an act of 

construction. It also constitutes development being works on land. The next question 
is whether it could be considered exempted development? I refer to Class 61, Part 1 
of Schedule 2 of the Planning and Development Regulations 2001-2023 as amended. 
It is an exemption for the placing or erection on a roof of solar photovoltaic collector 
installation on certain types of building including health centres, recreational 
facilities, community facilities or centres. I am satisfied that the Men’s Shed could be 
a considered a community facility as per item (v) of Class 61. There are 15 
conditions/limitations which must be satisfied in order to meet the criteria for the 
exemption. 

 
4.5 Condition/limitation 1 species if the development is located in a solar safeguarding 

zone, the total aperture area shall not exceed 300 sqm. I have check the Solar 
Safeguarding Zones Map and the site is not within such a zone and in any case, the 
total aperture area will not exceed 90 sqm. Condition/limitation 2 is not relevant as 
the site is not within a solar safeguarding zone. 

 
4.6 Condition/limitation 3 states that the distance between the plane of the roof and the 

solar photo-voltaic panels shall not exceed 15 cm in the case of any roof which is not 
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flat. An elevation drawing showing the panels on the roof has not been submitted so 
I can’t tell how high off the roof the proposed panels would be. The information 
does say they will be mounted against the roof but it is not clear whether the space 
between the roof and panels would be greater than 15 cm. Further information 
should be sought to confirm that the distance between the plane of the roof and the 
solar photo-voltaic panels shall not exceed 15 cm. 

 
4.7 Condition/limitation 4 requires the panels to be a minimum of 50 cm from the edge 

of the roof. The drawing shows the closest panel would be 1.26m from the roof 
edge. This complies with the required separation distance. 

 
4.8 Condition/limitation 5 states any ancillary equipment shall not be placed or erected 

on a wall or any roof that is not a flat roof. No information has been provided about 
ancillary equipment. Further information can be sought to query this. 

 
4.9 Condition/limitation 6 and 7 relate to the height of ancillary equipment on a flat roof 

and distance to the edge of same. The Men’s shed does not have a flat roof so the 
equipment cannot be placed on same. By seeking further information, it will be 
revealed where any ancillary equipment would be located and this aspect can be 
further assessed. 

 
4.10 Condition/limitation 8 refers to free standing installations not being erected forward 

of the front wall of the building or site. The proposed development relates to panels 
on the roof so are not free standing and therefore this condition/limitation is not 
relevant. 

 
4.11 Condition/limitation 9 and 10 refer to total aperture of free standing panels and 

height of same. Again, this is not relevant. 
 
4.12 Condition/limitation 11 states the placing of an installation on a wall is not exempt. 

The proposed development is intended to be erected on a roof, so this is not 
relevant. 

 
4.13 Condition/limitation 12 refers to free standing installations within an ACA so is not 

relevant to the proposed development as the proposal is not free standing and not 
within an ACA. 

 
4.14 Condition/limitation 13 states no sign or advertisement will be attached to the 

installation. The drawing does not show any signs or advertisements. 
 
4.15 Condition/limitation 14 outlines that development under this class shall only be 

exempted development where the solar photovoltaic installation is primarily used 
for the provision of electricity for use within the curtilage of the building or site. The 
application details do not explicitly state that the electricity will only be used for the 
Men’s Shed but given the size of the installation, it would appear reasonable to 
assume same. However, this can be clarified by further information. 
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4.16 Condition/limitation 15 states development which causes glint and/or glare shall not 
be exempted development and any panels causing hazardous glint and/or glare shall 
either be removed or be covered until such time as a mitigation plan to address the 
hazard has been agreed and implemented to the satisfaction of the Planning 
Authority. 

 
4.17 It would appear that the proposed photo-voltaic installation may comply with Class 

61 and may be considered exempted development provided the height of the panels 
are less than 15cm from the roof and that the electricity generated is for use on site 
and that no ancillary equipment will be proposed on the roof or walls of the building. 
These issues can be clarified by way of further information. It is also necessary to 
examine if any of the items in article 9(1)(a) could de-exempt the proposed 
development. I have reviewed same and am satisfied that none of the items apply. 
The building is in a designated High Value Landscape and article 9(1)(a) suggests a 
development would not be exempt if it would interfere with the character of a 
landscape of special amenity value. I consider that given the relatively small scale of 
panels, the pitch of the roof and the location of the building in a town setting that 
the proposed development would not detract from the visual amenities of the area. 

 
 Appropriate Assessment  
 
4.17 The subject site is within the screening zone of the Cork Harbour Special Protection 

Area (SPA) and having regard to the scale of the proposed development, its siting 
relative to the SPA, coupled with the lack of a hydrological connection between the 
site and the SPA, it is considered that the subject matters of this application would 
not be likely to give rise to significant impacts on the Natura 2000 site. 

 
Recommendation 
I recommend that the application be deferred. 
 

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
05/01/2024 
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

From: Tracy OCallaghan
Sent: Tuesday 5 December 2023 14:52
To: Aidan Winters
Cc: Eveleen Crowley
Subject: FW: Carrigaline Men's Shed application Section 5 Exemption for installation of Solar 

Photo-Voltaic System
Attachments: Item1 S-5 Exempt App 5 of 6.pdf; Item1 S-5 Exempt App 4 of 6.pdf; Item1 S-5 

Exempt App 1 of 6.pdf; Item1 S-5 Exempt App 2 of 6.pdf; Item1 S-5 Exempt App 3 
of 6.pdf; Item1 S-5 Exempt App 6 of 6.pdf; Item-4 Solar Photo-Voltaic System Roof 
Arrangement Plan Drawing.pdf; Record Place Map.pdf; Urban Rural Place Map.pdf; 
Site Layout Map.pdf; Site Elevations Drawing.pdf; Site Section and Front of Saite 
Elevation.pdf; Council Confirming Lease.pdf

Good Afternoon, 
Further to your recent Section 5 application,  I now refer you to Part 12, Section 157 of the Planning & Development 
Regulations 2001 (as amended) which states: 
 

Exemptions.  157.  (1)  Where a planning application consists of or comprises development which, in the opinion 
of the planning authority, is development proposed to be carried out by or on behalf of a 
voluntary organisation, and which in the opinion of the planning authority—  
(a) is designed or intended to be used for social, recreational, educational or religious 
purposes by the inhabitants of a locality, or by people of a particular group or religious 
denomination, and is not to be used mainly for profit or gain,  
 
(b) is designed or intended to be used as a work-shop, training facility, hostel or other 
accommodation for persons with disabilities and is not to be used mainly for profit or 
gain, or  
 
(c) is ancillary to development referred to in paragraph (a) or (b),  
 
a fee shall not be payable when making any such application.  

 
The exemption only relates to planning application fees.  As you have applied for a Section 5 Declaration of 
Exemption, the fee exemption is not applicable. 
Please contact me at the number below to arrange payment of the prescribed fee of €80.00 to allow us to process 
your application. 
Kind Regards, 
 
Tracy Ní Cheallacháin  |  Oifigeach Fóirne  |  Pleanáil agus Fobairt 
Comhairle Contae Chorcaí |  Halla an Chontae |  Corcaigh | T12 R2NC | Éire 
T +353-(0)21 – 428  5633  
tracy.ocallaghan@corkcoco.ie  |  www.corkcoco.ie 
Tairseach na gcustaiméirí: www.yourcouncil.ie 
 
Tracy O’ Callaghan  |  Staff Officer  |  Planning & Development 
Cork County Council |  County Hall | Cork | T12 R2NC | Ireland 
T +353-(0)21 – 428  5633  
tracy.ocallaghan@corkcoco.ie  | www.corkcoco.ie    
Customer Portal: www.yourcouncil.ie 
 

 
Smaoinigh ar an timpeallacht sula ndéanann tú an ríomhphost seo a phriontáil.  Please consider the Environment before 
printing this mail.  
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